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RINGROSE: If you don't mind, would you start from the beginning and tell us how you were 1 
hired here, how you were recruited.  2 

YORK: Well, I was working in the Pentagon at the time; I was Undersecretary of Defense, and 3 
I had been in Washington for about three years. But all that time I was on leave from the 4 
University of California.  5 

RINGROSE: At Berkeley.  6 

YORK: Well, yes, at Berkeley. But to make the story even more complicated, I had been on 7 
leave from Berkeley for the six years before I went to Washington. I was on leave from the 8 
Berkeley faculty beginning in 1952 but employed by the University of California as director of the 9 
Livermore Laboratory. Then, I went from Livermore to the White House, to the Pentagon, and 10 
then finally in 1961, nine years after I went on leave at Berkeley, I came to San Diego. Now, 11 
what had happened is that I had a heart attack the summer of 1960, that was election year, and 12 
decided that I would go back to California when the Eisenhower administration ended. I 13 
probably would have anyway ­ because I had assiduously protected my leave. I mean, I really 14 
liked the idea that I was on leave from the University of California. That was a big thing in my 15 
life.  16 

RINGROSE: That was an unusually long period to be granted leave, wasn't it?  17 

YORK: Yes, but you see, it was from one part of the university to another. Livermore 18 
Laboratory was also run by the University of California. I mean, nine years of leave would have 19 
been preposterous under ordinary circumstances, but six of those nine years were when I was 20 
at another part of the university, and the other three were for high government service. So, it 21 
was plausible after all. But at any rate, when I was still recovering from my heart attack–which 22 
had a lot of complications–it wasn't such a bad heart attack. but it had a lot of medical 23 
complications. I took the train to come out to California and visit with the people at Berkeley to 24 
discuss what I would do when I came back, because I was not interested in returning to 25 
Livermore. I didn't think that was what I wanted to do. I wanted to go back to Berkeley and do 26 
something, but I wasn't sure what there was to do.  27 

So, I visited with Glen Seaborg; I don't remember for sure whether I visited with Clark Kerr. But 28 
just to let them know that I was planning on coming back when the administration ran out at the 29 
end of 1960. And very soon after I was back in Washington, I got a call from Clark Kerr asking 30 
me if I would be willing to consider being chancellor of San Diego. And I said, ''Sure". And then 31 
he kept it confidential for a while, I presume because he'd been talking with [Edwin W.] Pauley 32 



perhaps, but he had not yet put the idea to the regents. And so somewhere, as I recall, about 33 
February, he did put the proposal to the regents that I should be chancellor, so I got a formal 34 
offer, and agreed to come. I may be wrong on many of those dates.  35 

The previous November, of course, Kennedy won the election. About a month after that Bob 36 
McNamara got in touch with me and asked me to stay. I said that I was really eager to get back 37 
to the University of California, and I agreed to stay long enough so there wouldn't be any 38 
pressure on finding a successor. In fact, I stayed until May, at which time I was replaced in 39 
Washington by Harold Brown, who had also replaced me at Livermore before that. I came out 40 
here about the first of May and have been here most of the time since then. In the beginning my 41 
family was still in Virginia finishing school, so I did a certain amount of traveling back and forth. 42 
We all arrived here on the fourth of July 1961.  43 

My coming here–what brought me to the attention of the regents and others ­well, the people 44 
here, however the selection committee worked–liked the fact that I had done a good job in 45 
Washington, and they are always looking for somebody who has a variety of skills. Ideally, when 46 
you're looking for a chancellor, you're looking for somebody who you believe understands 47 
something about education, usually because of having been in it. And you look for somebody 48 
you think would make a reasonable executive because there's something in his record that 49 
indicates he knows how to do that or has a talent for it–whatever the word is. And actually, I did 50 
not have a good background in education. In that sense they made a mistake! But at any rate, I 51 
had been with the University of California. I had briefly been a professor. The campus here was 52 
heavily research and science oriented, and of course the Livermore Laboratory is also. So, 53 
adding it all up, whoever was on the committee, came up with my name out of how many I have 54 
no idea–and I'm the one who made it through the filter of the regents, president's office, and so 55 
on. And so that's how I came.  56 

I had determined to return to the University of California. I had come out here letting people 57 
know I was coming back but didn't quite know what it was I was going to be doing. I would have 58 
been perfectly happy just to return to the faculty at Berkeley. But I would have needed, even 59 
then, something a little bit different. I probably would have tried to get something going relating 60 
to science policy rather than straight science, even if I had returned to Berkeley. I was 61 
determined to come back to pick up my leave, return to the University of California thinking of 62 
Berkeley, when at the same time that the authorities in Berkeley were looking for somebody to 63 
be chancellor here. So that's how it happened.  64 

RINGROSE: It seems like it was a good opportunity, and a good match of people.  65 

YORK: It was a good opportunity for me. Or seemed like a good opportunity. And it was a 66 
reasonable match.  67 

RINGROSE: When you came here did you realize that there was a group of people who had 68 
expected that Roger Revelle would be the first chancellor?  69 



YORK: Well, by the time I arrived here I was very well aware of that. But I didn't know it clearly 70 
when I was first approached, although somewhere early on Clark Kerr apprised me, on a private 71 
basis, of the fact that there were people here who wanted Roger. Then, after I was appointed by 72 
the regents, but while I was still in Washington, because I was still in the Pentagon for several 73 
months after the appointment was announced, Joe Mayer came and talked with me. He was the 74 
Mayer after whom Mayer Hall is named–one of the two Mayers. I met a couple of other UCSD 75 
faculty members as well, but I remember that Joe sort of came back as an official delegate to 76 
talk with me, and he made that clear, but in a friendly way. There was a lot of hostility, but it was 77 
almost all among old timers at Scripps. And it wasn't really overt. It just was an extraordinary 78 
coolness on the part of most of the people–not all, but most of the people at Scripps. And so, I 79 
was very well aware of it by the time I officially came and took over.  80 

RINGROSE: By the time you came, the decision had been firmly made that this would be a 81 
full-service campus. Right?  82 

YORK: Oh, yes. Which was fine with me. That was my interest as well.  83 

RINGROSE: It seems to me that there was a certain amount of hostility early on that was 84 
generated by the southern section of the senate.  85 

YORK: I don't know about hostility. There were controversies in which the Los Angeles 86 
division–some people in the Los Angeles division–wanted to keep control over the graduate 87 
program here longer than people here were willing to let them do it. But I have no feeling about 88 
that other than that it was ordinary bureaucratic politics. It was not an important issue. It was 89 
probably more important here than it was anywhere else. The people here were determined to 90 
get out from under the UCLA Senate. There was a lot of eagerness. I think that the people in 91 
Los Angeles who opposed it were probably limited to a very small number. I don't think most 92 
people at UCLA cared at all.  93 

RINGROSE: Do you think most people at Scripps were committed to a full-service campus?  94 

YORK: I really don't have any idea. Most people at Scripps are committed to research in 95 
oceanography—then, as much as they are now—research and a little bit of graduate teaching. 96 
So, they may have had some ideas about it, but most of them were not really committed. There 97 
were just a few people at Scripps who had a really deep interest in expanding into a general 98 
campus. Roger Revelle was the principal one. And of course, by the time I was hired, there had 99 
already been hired, in addition, the first people outside of the ocean sciences–that is, there was 100 
the beginnings of a Physics Department, a Chemistry Department, and a Biology Department 101 
already.  102 

RINGROSE: Now, these people had been selected by Roger Revelle?  103 

YORK: Yes, and then they had selected further people themselves. I don't know all about it in 104 
great detail. I think that it's correct to say that Roger found [David M.] Bonner–or Bonner found 105 
Roger–but then Bonner brought with him [Jonathan] Singer and [Robert N.] Hamburger. 106 
Similarly, Roger found–well, I'm not sure whether it was Jim Arnold or Harold Urey came first–107 



but one of them, and then they brought the rest, including Stanley Miller, who was a student of 108 
Urey's, etc. And in Physics it was similar, and again I don't fully know the details. But [Keith] 109 
Brueckner was one of the first–maybe the first, and then he recruited others. So, Roger 110 
recruited the first ones, and then the first ones recruited the next ones.  111 

RINGROSE: And then they created their own departments. Now you began the Humanities 112 
Department, essentially. You hired John Stewart, is that right?  113 

YORK: Yes, but that wasn't the first. The beginning was a group in Literature consisting of Roy 114 
Pearce, Andy Wright, and Sigurd Burkhardt, and then Bob Elliott, and then, related to all of 115 
them, [Leonard D.] Newmark had come in. Those five–of whom I think I named the first three 116 
correctly. I went to Columbus [Ohio] to meet with Roy and the others. Then, the next three were 117 
in Philosophy. And there was again a group of three who came more or less together with 118 
[Richard H.] Dick Popkin being the central figure, with [Avrum] Av Stroll and [Jason L.] Saunders 119 
being the other two.  120 

Then we began a systematic search for people in Political Science, Economics, and other social 121 
sciences, but with those two at the top of the list. And History. And Mathematics. Because 122 
although we had all kinds of mathematical science here, we had no Mathematics Department. It 123 
was Brueckner who got the first mathematicians. I remember interviewing quite a few people, 124 
trying to persuade a number of persons to come before finally [Stefan E.] Steve Warchawski 125 
came in math. In Economics and Political Science, we had small committees that were 126 
supposed to help, including people from off campus in those fields. Gifford Ewing was involved 127 
in the Political Science search, I remember, and Harold Urey in Economics. And it was, in fact, 128 
Harold Urey who discovered that Seymour Harris was interested in coming and phoned me to 129 
that effect from Washington. And so, we got those other departments going as well during that 130 
time.  131 

RINGROSE: You mentioned that you interviewed many people. Did you find it was difficult to 132 
get people to come out here because it was so isolated?  133 

YORK: Yes, although the thing that made it especially difficult was the fact that we had very 134 
high standards. And the people whom we wanted were all people who already had good jobs. 135 
We also got a certain number of volunteers. It would have been extremely easy to recruit if we 136 
had not insisted on high standards. But we all did. It was just universal among us. Different 137 
people had somewhat different views about what that meant. I was at one extreme with respect 138 
to feeling that high standards did not mean that a person had to be already famous, but merely 139 
very promising. There were other people who felt the same. But there were also people who 140 
wanted to hire faculty who were already well established and famous. I thought that was fine, 141 
too. But I also thought that some of the people here were too rigid with respect to their 142 
determination of high standards. They felt that a person, in all cases, had to have a good record, 143 
not just high promise.  144 



RINGROSE: It sounds as though you were primarily interested in people who were prominent 145 
in their fields and outstanding researchers as opposed to people who had made a mark as 146 
teachers.  147 

YORK: Yes, that's entirely right. The emphasis was always on research and creativity, whether 148 
you talk about science or non-science. We wanted artists who produced art. And incidentally in 149 
both art and in music I think that we were able to do what we wanted to do, which was to get 150 
people who were creative and willing to teach. In Literature I don't feel we did. Well, there we 151 
got a good but orthodox Literature Department, which likes to think of itself as unorthodox, but in 152 
my view, it's a high-quality orthodox Literature Department. The main characteristic of our 153 
literature faculty is that they are professors and critics and analysts of literature rather than 154 
creators of it. In our Music and our Art Department we really did get creative people.  155 

RINGROSE: I had a very interesting interview with John Stewart regarding the founding of the 156 
Music and Arts Departments, and I can see why you two tuned in to each other so well. He had 157 
some very definite creative ideas about how you teach those fields.  158 

YORK: Well, I wasn't so much looking for creative ideas about how you teach them. I was 159 
focusing on the idea of creativity and–I mean artistic creativity–and creative persons 160 
themselves. The other thing we did that had some novelty to it–but again none of these things 161 
was totally novel–the other one that was unorthodox, though, involved having language taught 162 
by native speakers with an emphasis on speaking primarily, and on reading and grammar 163 
secondarily. Again, it was not novel with us, but it was very rare in universities because teaching 164 
French and teaching German have historically been the main way of employing people who 165 
knew German and French literature. And so, the academic community—the literature part of the 166 
academic community–didn't like it. Well, some liked it, and some didn't. They were ambivalent 167 
about it. It meant fewer jobs. On the other hand, it meant that since most of them regarded 168 
teaching language as a terrible chore which is beneath their dignity, they were glad to be rid of 169 
it. So, you know, it produced a mixed situation, and it’s always given a mixed result. Our 170 
students, whether you're talking about Education Abroad programs or anything else, are 171 
substantially different in terms of what they can do from students from the traditional language 172 
programs. In testing, my recollection is, they usually show up worse, but then they adapt more 173 
quickly. I don't know. I've never looked into it enough to know the truth.  174 

RINGROSE: I hear that they have a pretty high level of verbal skills.  175 

YORK: And if you're going to go Education Abroad for a year, that's pretty important, and 176 
that's one of the things that we do with our students.  177 

RINGROSE: Now the original plan for UCSD seems to me to be one in which you were trying 178 
to integrate departments and disciplines.  179 

YORK: Well, yes and no. There was an enormous amount of conversation in that regard. 180 
There was almost no action at all. So that's one of the things that I would have liked to have 181 
seen that didn't really happen. We're just as rigid as any other university in that regard, and 182 



despite a lot of conversation, we always have been. The only walls that have ever been broken 183 
down are walls between two different disciplines which are so close that you might as well call 184 
them the same discipline. You know, biochemistry, geochemistry, ocean chemistry. The real 185 
interdisciplinary work has not worked here any better than it has work anywhere else. There are 186 
very few exceptions.  187 

The little program that Roger Revelle and Cliff Grobstein and [Sanford A.] Sandy Lakoff and I 188 
have is a kind of exception. It is interdisciplinary, but the only reason it works is because 189 
Grobstein, Revelle and I are all so senior that we can do almost anything we want to do. It 190 
would never have worked had it required young people as part of the basic group. We have 191 
been able to attach young people, but even then, they are, with only one exception, not regular 192 
members of the faculty. The faculty here, just like the faculty in most places, just will not–the 193 
appointment system just works, even you might say with ferocity, against interdisciplinary work. 194 
It will not give a tenure appointment to a person who is not in the center of a discipline. And 195 
people are willing to say that isn't it great that [J. Robert] Oppenheimer was a physicist who 196 
could play the violin. But if we wanted to hire him here, they wouldn't care about the violin. And 197 
it is probably right that they shouldn't.  198 

Well, interdisciplinary programming was all talk. It always was, and it still is all talk. Not just 199 
here, but really everywhere.  200 

RINGROSE: Do you think that the fact that we pay lip service to it on the campus gets in the 201 
way?  202 

YORK: I think that it probably doesn't make much difference. It might get in the way a little bit 203 
because it may make people think that we're doing it when we aren't, and they might try a little 204 
harder. But generally, I don't think it gets in the way.  205 

RINGROSE: But hasn't it led to the development of a somewhat unusual Medical School, 206 
though?  207 

YORK: I don't think our Medical School is as different as some people think. It looks like a 208 
regular good medical school.  209 

RINGROSE: But when it was started it was less orthodox than it is now.  210 

YORK: By a little bit, but by the time it really got going and was really doing a job and 211 
educating doctors, which is what it's for, by the time the first doctors were coming out, it was 212 
rapidly approaching a quality conventional school. It does have–it did at the beginning–it still is 213 
different in some ways, although I couldn't describe them. And during the first several years it 214 
was more different. But it was easy to see that what was happening was we were going to get a 215 
quality, conventional medical school. And to be honest, I never thought it was going to be 216 
anything else. I mean, Bonner and Hamburger and a few of the others, and Singer, were 217 
determined it was going to be something different. But as I saw it, starting off the way they 218 
wanted to, was perfectly ok. But I believed the result was going to be exactly what we got. I 219 
have never thought we were going to get anything different.  220 



RINGROSE: I'm looking forward to this discussion when Dr. Hamburger gets everybody 221 
together to talk about this very thing, because I think he still sees the Medical School as very 222 
different and would like to go back to the original conception.  223 

YORK: Well, it's different from some, but that will never happen. It never had a chance. You've 224 
got to have people teaching–well, I'm not sure I want to get into it in detail–but you've got to 225 
have professors who know what it is to be sick, not just what molecular biology is all about. And 226 
in order to train students, you've got to have a hospital with patients. And those people have got 227 
to focus on the complaints of those other human beings. And that leads to a Medical School of 228 
the orthodox American type.  229 

RINGROSE: This leads to another observation that I have been developing as I talk to various 230 
people about the campus, and that is that the original conception was highly theoretical, and 231 
that there was a tendency to avoid areas that have to do with professional skills that are 232 
oriented toward the practical. Perhaps I'm not phrasing that well.  233 

YORK: Let's say more academic than professional. You could say theoretical as opposed to 234 
practical, but academic as opposed to professional is perhaps a better way to say the same 235 
thing. And therefore, we do not to this day have a Business School, a School of Education, and 236 
a School of Law. The case with Law is different from the case with the others. And that's also 237 
why it took so long to form a School of Engineering. That sounds too professional. And I was 238 
sympathetic with those general goals. I was not interested in having a Business School, or an 239 
Education School. And I was satisfied to forget Engineering. And I thought that Medicine was 240 
the best place to start, because of those it is the most sophisticated and certainly the most 241 
closely connected with science, where all their strength was. So, I did not share the ideological 242 
opposition to a Business School or Education School, but I was perfectly content not to have 243 
them.  244 

RINGROSE: Not to have to deal with them. And yet it does mean that you're not going to be 245 
educating as wide a spectrum of the local educational clientele. That perhaps leaves the 246 
university open to charges of elitism.  247 

YORK: Well, yes, but there I believe the university ought to be elite, so that it simply–well, I'll 248 
put it a little differently. I didn't think it ought to be elite. It ought to be high quality, and it's just 249 
inevitable that it also leads to elitism. For whatever reasons it's a fact that when you make the 250 
educational standards high, you get students from a small fraction of society, and from that 251 
small fraction of society that lives best. So, my goal wasn't elitism, it was high quality.  252 

RINGROSE: Did you ever get flak from the community?  253 

YORK: Yes, and I was perfectly willing to accept elitism as a result of insisting on high quality.  254 

RINGROSE: Well, I think today students are so much more career oriented and they're so 255 
concerned about the results of their education, and whether they're going to be able to graduate 256 
and find a job and so on...  257 



YORK: Well, we do adapt to those kinds of pressures. It just takes time. It may take so much 258 
time that we almost do it too late. I'm not quite sure. But we have established an Engineering 259 
School now. And that will evolve in ways that may never be entirely conventional but will look 260 
more and more conventional. And I'm not sure what will happen at the interface between 261 
business and economics and so forth. In fact, I haven't even followed what's going on in the 262 
campus as it is.  263 

RINGROSE: Well, we do have sort of a small hidden program–it's carefully hidden ­ it's an 264 
interesting little program.  265 

YORK: I remember meeting one of our first black students on an airplane after he graduated 266 
and was working in Sacramento. And he was quite critical. He had actually gotten a good job, 267 
but he was quite critical of the education he got here. He said he managed to go to work in 268 
Sacramento without having anybody ever telling him what a mortgage was. And he felt that 269 
especially since he came from an ethnic group where people usually didn't have mortgages, 270 
that that was actually part of the elitism of the campus, that the economics department felt that 271 
everybody would know what a mortgage was, and therefore it was ridiculous to tell anybody. 272 
Well, in Physics we don't rely on people knowing or having lots of prior knowledge, although it's 273 
no accident that they all come from a fairly well-defined group of households that are not 274 
necessarily upper class.  275 

RINGROSE: No, but they're going to be people who care a lot about education.  276 

YORK: Well, the scientists come–there the young people don't necessarily care about 277 
education. They happen to come from families which are willing to answer questions and sort of 278 
cater to young people. But they aren't necessarily interested in education more generally. It's 279 
always been a fact when I was in school and even today, that you find an awful lot of physics 280 
students who are even worse at grammar and spelling than even the literature students are! 281 
Which is saying a lot! Because they're really not interested in education generally. They're 282 
interested in science.  283 

RINGROSE: What can I say? I have one. They're a breed. They're totally different from 284 
anybody else in the world.  285 

YORK: So, it isn't right that they're interested in education.  286 

RINGROSE: No, that the parents are interested in education.  287 

YORK: Well, many of them are, but not even all of that. You know in the mathematical 288 
sciences a very large fraction come from Jewish families, which indeed are genuinely interested 289 
in education. But the other half do not come from such families.  290 

RINGROSE: Are you telling me that these creatures are born, they just kind of happen?  291 

YORK: I think that it has a lot more to do with it than people are willing to say. Or, to the extent 292 
that environment has something to do with it, it's the willingness of parents to answer 293 



bothersome questions during the first two or three years rather than environment in some bigger 294 
sense. So, I think it probably does have to do with being born to it. But I'm willing to give the first 295 
four or five years of environment a big–for instance, it's no accident that the best scientists are 296 
either always older children or only sons or oldest, and certainly the genes aren't changing. 297 
What's changing is the relationship between the parents and the children, and the willingness to 298 
play with them and bother with dumb questions. So, it surely is environment in some sense, 299 
though in a fairly narrow sense.  300 

RINGROSE: Where scientists come from–is this a question that people at UCSD ever think 301 
about or deal with?  302 

YORK: Not much. But there are departments where people do. There are departments where 303 
there are people who concentrate on a sociology of science, for example, which is probably the 304 
direct study of that question.  305 

RINGROSE: There are all kinds of historians who are interested in what historical milieu will 306 
produce people who think this way.  307 

YORK: Yes. The sociologists study it within America. I mean it's another kind of person who 308 
asks the question why there aren't any in South America. That's a different question.  309 

RINGROSE: Or why there were so few in the early Middle Ages.  310 

YORK: Yeah, that's right. In terms of time as well. Well, they must be related. One is "Why are 311 
they all in northwest European culture, and now Japanese culture?" And even the ones who 312 
aren't, really were. India is the only third world country that has ever produced any, and that was 313 
during the time the British were there.  314 

RINGROSE: And yet in our egalitarian society, we have to be careful how we say these kinds 315 
of things.  316 

YORK: Yes, in fact, for social reasons more than even legal reasons.  317 

RINGROSE: Early on, in the planning of UCSD, it looks as though what Roger Revelle had in 318 
mind was that the campus should develop on a Caltech model.  319 

YORK: He did have that in mind, and then he had another related one that was some kind of 320 
combination of Caltech and Occidental.  321 

RINGROSE: Sort of like Harvey Mudd?  322 

YORK: He did have something like that in mind. Well, no, he wanted it to be more at the 323 
graduate level, and Harvey Mudd is resolutely undergraduate. So, not Harvey Mudd, although 324 
that, in itself, is an interesting school, it's a different case altogether. Roger Revelle wanted 325 
UCSD to be research oriented, and he had certain other idealized pictures of even the 326 
undergraduates learning by being part of a research group or doing a large part of their learning 327 



by being associated with a research group. The more or less specific ideas–those were the 328 
more specific ideas.  329 

What I think of as the general ideas that Roger brought to the whole thing were two. One of 330 
them is that we would build from the top down. And the other was that we would divide them–if 331 
we did get big, we would divide the mass into pieces, and that's the basis of the college system 332 
that we have today. Now in addition he also had very strong views with regard to standards and 333 
quality. There he wasn't so unique. There were a lot of people who did. But the special ideas 334 
that he promoted were the two I named–well, my view of it–starting from the top down, starting 335 
with graduate work first, and then before you had very large units of anything, breaking them 336 
down into something like the colleges we now have. And fortunately, Clark Kerr was supportive 337 
of those general ideas. Clark Kerr and others were not supportive of making a state supported 338 
Caltech.  339 

RINGROSE: It seems to me that the building from the top-down idea can be dangerous in the 340 
sense that you immediately shape the department.  341 

YORK: Yes, but the first people shape the department no matter who they are, and if they are 342 
strictly teaching oriented, they'll shape it that way. So, yes, it shapes the department. But I think, 343 
as did all of the early pioneers here, that it shapes it in the right way. Yes, it shapes it. It does 344 
some other things that may be less than ideal, but I don't know a way to do it better. It also gets 345 
within departments certain subspecialties–they get a head start and tend to squeeze out others. 346 
So, it has other distortions than just those involved between research and teaching. 347 
Nevertheless, it's the best of all distorted ways.  348 

RINGROSE: It puts an enormous responsibility on the early people.  349 

YORK: Yes, but that's always the case. How would you not? Building from the top down 350 
doesn't do that—doesn't contribute to that. The first people have a big responsibility anyhow.  351 

RINGROSE: Well, I think it's a contribution that Roger Revelle made that perhaps lay people 352 
don't recognize.  353 

YORK: It's not the first time it was done, but the other times it was done sort of accidentally.  354 

RINGROSE: Where else has it been done?  355 

YORK: That's the way the Rockefeller University got started. I'm not exactly sure, but there 356 
were a number of Eastern schools that put great emphasis on graduate work, and then 357 
undergraduate work.  358 

RINGROSE: Stony Brook?  359 

YORK: Yes, but Stony Brook came after us. And, well, it was almost contemporaneous–Stony 360 
Brook was. You're right. Stony Brook really was an independent case because we hadn't gone 361 
far enough to be an example yet.  362 



RINGROSE: I'm not sure they had gone as heavily into graduate teaching, either.  363 

YORK: No, but they did have a similar set of ideas. On the other hand, we were unusual, but 364 
not absolutely unique.  365 

RINGROSE: Around the circuit one gets the sense that the UCSD experiment has been the 366 
most successful.  367 

YORK: Yes, I think so. Not only within the UC system, but it's one of the very few successful 368 
ones–it's post Sputnik. The changes in American higher education that came after the sixties 369 
have two origins. One of them is all the turmoil that happened in connection with Sputnik and so 370 
on. But much more important, although not usually emphasized, is just demographics. Affluence 371 
and demographics. Higher education had to expand because of demand. Sputnik and the 372 
immediate aftermath gave a certain amount of direction and got more sympathy in Washington 373 
than it otherwise would have had, but American higher education would have expanded 374 
anyway. Probably the University of California would have expanded something like it did, 375 
because we owe everything to Sacramento, not to Washington. And I think Sacramento would 376 
have made decisions something like were made even without Sputnik. On the other hand, 377 
alternative history is every bit as crazy and hard to predict as the future.  378 

RINGROSE: If you compare UCSD to Santa Cruz, for example, and it did start about the same 379 
time. 380 

YORK: Yes, and Irvine also. And really Riverside started about the same time as well.  381 

RINGROSE: Yes, it did. In fact, I was out here in 1961. I taught out here for a year, and 382 
Riverside was just beginning. I was up in San Bernardino. But of the new campuses, UCSD is 383 
clearly the most successful.  384 

YORK: Yes, but not merely within the university. If you measure success in terms of a first 385 
rate–well, I don't know what the right word is–but I mean what everyone would agree, a 386 
university with first rate graduate departments–then it's not merely the best within the University 387 
of California system. It's probably the most successful of all of the new ones. And there were a 388 
lot of other new ones created in the wake of Sputnik, and in the wake of this affluence and 389 
demographics I spoke of.  390 

RINGROSE: Now, when you start this kind of a brand-new-from-scratch university it always 391 
lacks that kind of amorphous body of traditions and things that surround an institution. We were 392 
at Rutgers during the sixties, and of course it was expanding very, very rapidly, and yet had the 393 
old traditions of Rutgers College to work on. But there was really nothing like that here.  394 

YORK: No, there was. There was the rest of the University of California. Because a lot of us 395 
who were involved here were from elsewhere in the University of California, and furthermore, 396 
there were all kinds of rules and regulations and customs codified in the rules–not only of the 397 
regents, but of the Academic Senate–some of which didn’t apply here. So that there was a 398 
certain controversy connected with the fact that we were part of the University of California. But 399 



I think much more important than the few issues where there was controversy was the more 400 
fundamental situation that that is the pattern we used. That is the basic pattern we used. I used 401 
it perfectly willingly. There were other people who came from elsewhere who didn't like that 402 
pattern. But it was fine with me.  403 

RINGROSE: When I interviewed Roy Pearce, we had a conversation that made it very clear 404 
that there were things about the structure that made the creation of the kind of literature 405 
department that he wanted very difficult.  406 

YORK: Yes, there were. But I would claim that all of those put together were less important 407 
than the positive side. But one doesn't notice the positive side. You only notice the negatives. 408 
And Roy Pearce is the kind of person who is especially sensitive to that. And also, he's right. 409 
There were some problems. But some of them come not just from the fact that we are part of 410 
the university, but from the fact that American university customs in the large are there and part 411 
of the invisible background. For example, the reason it was difficult to make all the talk about 412 
interdisciplinary work into reality is American academic custom, not the University of California. 413 
It doesn't happen anywhere. Especially it doesn't happen at first class institutions, except in sort 414 
of special cases where there's a group of people who can do it. Around American academia 415 
there are some good–the things I know best have to do with science and politics, or science 416 
technology, and international relations and so on. There are some programs around. But there 417 
are only a half a dozen, and you've got two thousand institutions of higher education. There are 418 
only a half a dozen which are able to do that, despite the fact that all kinds of people say it ought 419 
to be done.  420 

RINGROSE: Well, it's a brave graduate student that does an advanced degree in this kind of 421 
interdisciplinary ­ 422 

YORK: I have a different solution, and that is that the graduate student should do an orthodox 423 
degree in terms of satisfying the requirements of some particular department but have a 424 
research topic within that department that relates to something else.  425 

RINGROSE: So, you really see these as interdisciplinary organizations that put ideas 426 
together...  427 

YORK: It's already hard to do that without taking the next step, which is to have a single 428 
person do everything.  429 

RINGROSE: I think the hope in part was that the college system would provide some of the 430 
motor for this. We should talk about that.  431 

YORK: Yes, by making it easier for colleagues in one discipline to relate to colleagues in 432 
another. And in that detail, I don't think it has worked at all.  433 

RINGROSE: Well, it seems that the only place that interdisciplinary courses have really thrived 434 
at all has been in Muir.  435 



YORK: Well, what do you have in mind?  436 

RINGROSE: Well, when John Stewart and I talked, we talked about some of the environment 437 
programs, for example, which are interdisciplinary. But he will admit that it's been very difficult to 438 
keep those programs working and supported.  439 

YORK: No, I would say that our STPA [Science, Technology, and Public Affairs course] is the 440 
best example.  441 

RINGROSE: Is that lodged in a college? Are you lodged in Warren?  442 

YORK: Well, we're lodged with the Political Science Department, and they're lodged in a 443 
college. And there we do teach courses that deal with politics and with technology, and science 444 
and technology. But that's because none of us, neither Roger, nor Cliff, nor myself depend on a 445 
discipline for our institutional well-being. Or depend on it critically, I should say. We have to 446 
maintain reasonable relations with our disciplines.  447 

RINGROSE: But you're really not seen as a threat to any one particular department…  448 

YORK: No, or to the institution. You see a department–a department of science A, if a large 449 
part of its people–I mean a large part may be as little as twenty percent–if they started fooling 450 
around with interdisciplinary subjects, the department would feel that its reputation was 451 
threatened. It was threatened in the sense–not that the other eighty percent were going to lose 452 
their pay or something—but that their reputation and their ability to get good graduate students 453 
and good colleagues was threatened. So, they do feel threatened, and that's how they feel 454 
threatened. And the social sciences are even worse. You know the Anthropology Department, 455 
Sociology, to name two, are probably the worst. You know the idea that somebody might not be 456 
in the center of sociology as defined by the group making up the ten or twenty best departments 457 
is just anathema to them. The Political Science Department with which I'm associated is the 458 
same, but they're tolerant of the three of us because we're outside it. But if Sandy Lakoff or one 459 
of the other early ones wanted to hire someone who knew something about political science 460 
theory, but who had been a congressman for twenty years, he could never get such a person 461 
hired.  462 

RINGROSE: They did, however, just hire an historian.  463 

YORK: Yes, but that's not–who?  464 

RINGROSE: Paul Drake. The new Latin Americanist. But I understand what you're saying. It's 465 
interesting to hear it from your perspective, because the perspective I've always had on it has 466 
been one that involved not wanting to be interested in interdisciplinary things because you are 467 
always fighting for bodies and body count, and resources.  468 

YORK: That is true.  469 

RINGROSE: It's a resource problem.  470 



YORK: That is true. They feel their reputation is threatened. I mean, our people–that's part of 471 
the costs of being...  472 

[END OF PART ONE, BEGIN PART TWO] 

RINGROSE: Let's try that conversation again, because that's interesting–about history of 473 
science and history of technology. And why they don't thrive in an institution that has very rigid 474 
ideas about who can do what.  475 

YORK: I don't know why except that in order to really understand technology you probably 476 
have to–the person who really understands technology probably isn't as good an historian as an 477 
historian who understands culture and philosophy (or even diplomatic history) which have been, 478 
for a long-time part of history, and which contain ideas which are similar to the ideas that 479 
historians usually work with. Technology is made up of a set of ideas which are really quite 480 
different from the ones historians, or literary people, or anybody else work with. You wouldn't 481 
really expect to find a department that was made up of a combination of literature and 482 
technology. But in the case of history, there is something to do, because Western society–the 483 
difference between us and other societies–one of the large differences is our capability with 484 
technology. And yet there isn't anybody who really understands how that all happened, because 485 
the technologists have no sense of history, generally. Some of them, when they become older, 486 
develop an amateurish interest in it. And historians just never, as a group of people, have any 487 
feeling for technology. And so, there is in American–what is it, the Society for the History of 488 
Technology, called SHOT, a tiny group of people at just a few universities, but even then, as 489 
often as not, there is still likely to be someone who is interested in the introduction of iron 490 
smelting into Eastern Russia, as in the question of computers, or space.  491 

RINGROSE: I think that what we are really dealing with in part is a problem that history as a 492 
discipline in the United States has to deal with. You are not rewarded in the discipline for doing 493 
nuts and bolts work. The person who really works out the development of iron smelting 494 
technology in Eastern Russia is not going to get to first base in the profession. European 495 
historians are rather critical of this in this regard, and in my own field, there is a tendency for 496 
historians not to spend enough time paying their dues with nuts-and-bolts manuscripts and 497 
small projects.  498 

YORK: But the persons who go into history are similar to the persons who go into the 499 
humanities. And so, they're interested in the kinds of ideas that humanists are interested in, not 500 
the kind of ideas that technical people are interested in. I think that's got to count. Just the 501 
inclinations of the persons themselves.  502 

RINGROSE: You need to talk to Stan Chodorow about this sometime, if you never have, 503 
because he started out as a chemist, I believe.  504 

YORK: Well, there are a few. And I didn't know that he started out as a chemist, but there 505 
certainly are people who are like that. Even then it's somebody who gets a degree in 506 



engineering and then becomes an historian that would be required to do what I'm talking about. 507 
Maybe we should get on to some of the other basic questions.  508 

RINGROSE: How much long-range planning actually went on in the early days.  509 

YORK: Oh, a lot. It depends–long range planning is one of those things that is in the eye of the 510 
beholder, because what one person will regard as adequate, another person will regard as 511 
lacking in sufficient detail, or foresight, or something. But we developed a plan, and it still exists, 512 
that had numbers in it and provided for more than ten years of faculty and student development 513 
in various departments. As far as facilities planning is concerned, it had twenty or twenty-five 514 
years of facilities planning. So, we had ten years of planning that involved the shape of 515 
departments, and twenty-five years of planning on the shape of the physical facilities and 516 
established a lot of specific general principles with regard to specific academic ideas. So, I think 517 
in the terms I believe are sensible, we did lots of long-range planning. Anything more would 518 
have just been whistling in the wind. I mean you can pretend you're doing more, but you can't 519 
do any more than we did.  520 

RINGROSE: I've looked at the Alexander master plan, for the physical plant, and that.  521 

YORK: There's a book around somewhere that is an academic master plan that was drawn up 522 
at the beginning of my first administration, but I don't have a copy. Some of the things were 523 
done in marvelously arbitrary ways. The question of how big a college should be Walter Kohn–I 524 
may have it just backwards, but I think Walter Kohn thought they should only be 900–that is, 525 
nice and small in terms of student size.  526 

RINGROSE: Probably the size of the college he went to.  527 

YORK: And Joe Clark and Joe Mayer thought each ought to be large enough to really be 528 
complete, and that that would take 9000 students. And the number 2700 is more or less an 529 
arbitrary number. Twenty-five hundred is what we finally picked. That would allow for twelve, I 530 
think–three clusters of four each. The only thing that [Robert] Alexander introduced was the idea 531 
of clusters. That instead of having just twelve—you know, growing one, two, three, four, five, 532 
six–one would grow one, two, three, four–pause ­ five, six, seven, eight–pause. And then of 533 
course the general land use plan, and so on, the details were all worked up by Alexander, but 534 
except for the notion of groups of three groups of four, Alexander just carried out what the 535 
faculty said, so it's not Alexander's plan. It was the faculty's plan, with the details worked out by 536 
Alexander.  537 

RINGROSE: The land use plan–I haven't been able to decide if we've abandoned it or not.  538 

YORK: Well, I think we've not, and in fact because we didn't–and it has produced certain 539 
oddities–what the students like to call the ''not-so-central University Library" is the ''not-so-540 
central University Library" because it's where it belongs in the long-range plan. So, at the time 541 
that was built, we were still following a plan which was probably already obsolete, but it wasn't 542 
clear it was obsolete. And the accident that College No. 1, Revelle College, is in one extreme 543 



corner, that's pure accident. That came out because at the time that we were ready to go on 544 
detailed planning and construction, and so on, that was the only piece of property we owned!  545 

RINGROSE: That's right because things were well along when you got the master plan.  546 

YORK: So, you know the master plan is one of those curiosities as is often the case. I don't 547 
have all that good a feeling about master planning. You're required to do it, but a lot of the 548 
greatest things that the human race has were not master planned, and I'm not sure that master 549 
planning is all that great. It works, but it does produce weird things, like having the university 550 
library on the edge.  551 

RINGROSE: Well, it won't be there anymore, once we get the other...  552 

YORK: Once we get that other stuff built behind it–even so it won't be the ideal place. It would 553 
be better if it were where the Mandeville Hall is.  554 

RINGROSE: Did people like Jim Copley and James Archer have much to do with developing 555 
master planning? I knew they were involved in the land acquisition.  556 

YORK: I don't think they were involved in master planning. Certainly, they were involved in the 557 
use of the land. It depends on what you mean. They actually had nothing to do with what you 558 
earlier called the Alexander Plan. On the other hand, they had a great deal to do with the 559 
general approach because we acquired the land in–I mean going back to the original Scripps–560 
we acquired it in three major steps. One was the land where Revelle College is. That was 561 
acquired before I got here, and I don't remember how that happened. But then there was the 562 
Camp Matthews piece, and then there was everything that was north of the combination of 563 
Camp Matthews and Revelle College.  564 

RINGROSE: You mean the pueblo piece.  565 

YORK: Well, even Camp Matthews was originally pueblo lands, which had been given to the 566 
Navy for its use, with the proviso that it should be returned to the city when the Navy was done 567 
with it. And it was sort of an issue there. The Navy was not involved according to the original 568 
grant, the Navy had to give it back to the city, who wanted to give it to us. There were people 569 
who wanted the Navy to do something else with it. Sell it to the university, or...  570 

RINGROSE: You mean city people.  571 

YORK: Well, people in the Navy. The Navy was not too eager to have us here, for a good 572 
reason. And that is that we were a major factor in the development of North City, and the 573 
development of North City imperils the Miramar Naval Air Station. And the Navy saw that very 574 
clearly right from the start. Building the university up here would hasten the day when they 575 
would have to move out of Miramar. So, the Navy opposed it. And the Navy had a lot of 576 
influence with Copley, and so forth, so the location became controversial for that narrow reason. 577 
Copley, you know, had an ambivalent relationship with us. He wanted a university here, but he 578 
didn't want a university with real students and real professors. He had some kind of an 579 



idealization of bringing culture without bringing all those painful political and social things that go 580 
with it. So, he, for a long time, long after the decision was made to call this–and that desire on 581 
his part, and on the part of a number of others, reflected itself in a number of odd ways. First of 582 
all, they wanted a Caltech -type school with students who would keep their noses to the 583 
grindstone and supply good Ph.D.s for General Atomic and so on. And they wanted the theater. 584 
There were sort of these little odds and ends, but they didn't want what we've got! And so, one 585 
of the manifestations of that was Copley's insistence for several years that the name should be 586 
University of California at La Jolla, rather than University of California, San Diego.  587 

RINGROSE: Oh, I didn't know that he pushed that issue.  588 

YORK: Yes. Some of the people on the campus liked that name as well, so for a brief period, 589 
that's what it was known as. The only place I know where you can find that engraved in stone is 590 
in a rock. I think there's a stone just outside IGCC [UC Institute on Global Conflict and 591 
Cooperation] which is memorializing some gift, maybe it's a statue that's there, and it mentions 592 
University of California, La Jolla. You know, where it's engraved in concrete or bronze or 593 
something. Other than that, it exists only on paper. But Copley for years would not allow the 594 
press to publish our name. It took that small form. It's an interesting joke. There's a picture of 595 
me and Governor Pat Brown with a shovel breaking ground at Urey Hall. And the name of the 596 
university is carefully cropped out! It's published in the newspapers. There's a big billboard 597 
behind us that tells what it's all about. It doesn't say University of California, San Diego. And 598 
news stories from those times refer to University of California, La Jolla, and I said, 'That's not 599 
our name". And then they started saying ''University of California situated at La Jolla". And I 600 
said, ''Well, that's true. We are situated at La Jolla, but it's still not our name". And then the next 601 
step was to change it to ''University of California, Here." Finally, they gave in, but they really 602 
fought this rear-guard action. University of California, La Jolla. University of California, situated 603 
at La Jolla, with small ''s" on situated. They didn't try to make the name UCsaLJ. Small situated. 604 
And then University of California, here. It was not an accident. It was editorial policy. Our name 605 
was the University of California, here–small ''h "· I suggested to Sybil [York] at one point that we 606 
should propose that to Berkeley. That our name should be University of California, Here. That 607 
would put us after Berkeley and Davis, but ahead of Irvine in the alphabetical order.  608 

RINGROSE: Or University of California, South!  609 

YORK: No... they wanted here, and the question in my mind was whether they should–Sybil 610 
said, ''No, they'll name it the University of California, There. And then we'll be last. And then at 611 
Berkeley they'll call us University of California, There, and then we'll be last. So, you see, South 612 
would make us last also. No, University of California, here, was the only reasonable alternative.  613 

And then Archer had a different connection because Archer was Regent. And Archer therefore 614 
in a way had the job of helping me relate to the community. And so, he did, to a degree, 615 
introduce me to the local power structure, and I think it was he who got me into the downtown 616 
Rotary, and things like that.  617 



RINGROSE: I found it interesting when all of a sudden, he came up with the possibility of just 618 
moving the whole kit and kaboodle out to Peñasquitos. It looked like an Irvine Company style 619 
development.  620 

YORK: Well, that was happening, and the Irvine analogy is a key, but it's not just Irvine. When 621 
the University of California master plan was developed, the architectural side of it involved the 622 
notion that we needed a thousand acres in order to build a campus with 27,500 students. For all 623 
of the new campuses we needed a thousand acres. So, the word was around that the University 624 
of California is looking for a thousand acres. Well, anybody who owned eleven hundred acres of 625 
remote property, or you might even say a thousand and one acres, could give us a thousand 626 
and get rich on the one that remained. And so, we were–not deluged–but there were lots of 627 
offers of people with remote property all over the state of California. That happened at Irvine. It 628 
happened at Santa Cruz. It happened elsewhere. People just loved to give us a thousand acres 629 
of desert if they owned a thousand and one! Get rich on the remaining one!  630 

RINGROSE: With a filling station on the one!  631 

YORK: Well, that's too much of an exaggeration. But people with ten thousand acres, to give 632 
us one thousand, just would have it made! So, we had that everywhere.  633 

RINGROSE: The Peñasquitos property did look like that kind of thing, and that was not 634 
unreasonable.  635 

YORK: That's right, but it was too late. This was the sensible place. And it was sensible 636 
because Scripps was here, and we grew out of Scripps. The other alternative that was 637 
considered by some was the unused half of Balboa Park. Which also would have been a good 638 
idea, and in terms of what finally has happened, even big enough. But the idea of a metropolitan 639 
center campus is not all that great an idea, and it is too small in terms of what we literally 640 
thought we needed. And of course, the people who pushed it, one never knew–at least some of 641 
them pushed it because they knew it couldn't happen, and therefore that was a way of getting 642 
rid of the whole thing. I don't know what the facts were, but it was widely supposed that the 643 
reason–Pauley was one of the people who pushed that idea–that at least part of his reason was 644 
to just throw the whole thing out.  645 

RINGROSE: He was clearly not happy with having a campus down here, and you don't have 646 
any insights into why.  647 

YORK: No, except in part it was that–it had a lot of dimensions, and at least one of them was 648 
that he would never have approved of Roger as chancellor, and probably not having any 649 
campus at all was a simple solution from his point of view. Or, I shouldn't even say just Roger. It 650 
was the whole thing–the whole matter of (guests arrive–break in interview)  651 

RINGROSE: Pauley had very close connections with the military, didn't he? I thought that 652 
might be...  653 



YORK: Well, he had close connections to government. He had been an adviser to Truman. He 654 
had been head of some kind of independent agency during the war. He had close connections 655 
with high level political figures–whether his connections with the military were beyond those he 656 
had because of those other interests, I'm not certain. Maybe. I just don't know.  657 

RINGROSE: Well, that may be one that we're just never going to solve. You mentioned the 658 
theatre. Talk about that a little bit. The little we talked about it the other day I got a very different 659 
view of it from what I got from John Stewart, which makes it interesting.  660 

YORK: Well, I think all of the people who were deeply involved might have different views and 661 
probably contradictory ones. My view of it–which I don't claim to be complete–was that there 662 
was this project when I arrived. I had nothing to do with setting it up or anything else. It had 663 
been something that Roger had worked out with his rich friends in the community. And other... ­ 664 

RINGROSE: It predated Roger Revelle I suspect.  665 

YORK: Well, there was an independent interest in theatre, that's for sure. But the notion that 666 
the University would somehow be a partner in all of this dates from Roger's time and Roger's 667 
relationship with local–and Ellen's relationship–with local wealthy people, including Copley, but 668 
a lot of others as well. There was a lady named Longstreth–Marilyn Longstreth–during my time 669 
who was absolutely a key figure in all of this. She was the dominant person outside of the 670 
University. And from my point of view the problem was that whenever we would start to move 671 
that way, once we got some people here in Literature–Roy Pearce and the others–they had 672 
their own ideas and there was this problem relating to what we talked of earlier. They were 673 
convinced that unless they kept it under their absolute control, the whole thing would proceed in 674 
a way that would ruin their reputations. That's a slight overstatement, but not very much! And 675 
so, this divergence appeared in which people on campus were developing an antagonism 676 
towards the off-campus people that centered around this question of control over everything, but 677 
especially the program. I mean the idea that somebody might have a popular play at some time 678 
or other seemed–maybe I'm painting a caricature or something–but I mean Roy Pearce was 679 
horrified at the idea.  680 

RINGROSE: John Stewart referred to it as the Straw-Hat Caper.  681 

YORK: That's right! But you know, even when people wanted to do Shakespeare, Roy wanted 682 
to know, ''Who are these people", and unless it was a member of the Senate or the old man 683 
himself, it will ruin our reputation. So, there was a hostility, to the point where you could say 684 
there was hostility there, although a genteel one. On the other hand, the townspeople were no 685 
better. Again, to paint a perhaps unfair caricature, what Marilyn wanted was a beautiful theatre 686 
with a great terrace with ceiling to floor glass overlooking the ocean where she and her friends 687 
could come a few times a year and show off their evening clothes. The fact that there was an 688 
opening night for a play ­ that would be the reason for this particular party. But the party was 689 
what they focused on. At one point it seems to me there was just about enough money to build 690 
a theatre ­or a theatre that would look adequate to me, but the townsfolk wouldn't go for it 691 
because it was too plain. It didn't have the nice promenade that was so essential to them. So, 692 



you know, the fact–in my view, it was these extraordinarily different views of the world that was 693 
the problem.  694 

RINGROSE: Do you spend the money on the inside of the theatre, or the outside. 695 

YORK: It was the deepest philosophical difference. There was Roy Pearce and his friends, 696 
wanting to make sure there was room for a lot of plays but to use my terms nobody could 697 
possibly understand what they're all about, and the local people who not only wanted straw hat 698 
theatre, but wanted straw hat theatre for rich folks. It was really just that bad a split. And the 699 
local people were interested in a few local Hollywood types who were interested in that sort of 700 
thing. I think Jose Ferrer—have I got the wrong name—and who was the other one, [Henry] 701 
Fonda, maybe. Was it Fonda?  702 

RINGROSE: No, it wasn't Fonda. It was Gregory Peck.  703 

YORK: Well, it was an archetypical town/gown split, but probably slightly more extreme than 704 
would have happened. I mean, it could have happened in Buffalo or Cleveland, or anywhere. 705 
But the fact that it happened here, in a rich local clientele on the one hand, and an elitist 706 
academic institution on the other, just is what made it impossible. So, I don't know what details 707 
John Stewart or others will tell you, but it was, in my view, this general split that sort of made 708 
things impossible. I don't know how it was rescued. Marilyn eventually left and died. She lived 709 
right across the street for a while, but she left this neighborhood before I moved in.  710 

RINGROSE: Well, it must have been a bitter thing because she was pushed out...  711 

YORK: She broke up with her husband. That also happened. She and her husband divorced. 712 
He was an alcoholic or...  713 

RINGROSE: We were talking about the theatre.  714 

YORK: I think we finished that unless you have some other questions.  715 

RINGROSE: No, I think...  716 

YORK: Because then I found it to be basically a boring topic, so as soon as I didn't have to 717 
deal with it, I didn't follow it. I thought everybody involved was crazy, and I didn't want to fuss 718 
with it.  719 

RINGROSE: I think it's amazing that they finally did settle it and get some kind of... it's virtually 720 
impossible to book any kind of use of that theatre.  721 

YORK: Oh, it is? Because it's so well booked? Is that so? We did have in mind that it would be 722 
used for university exercises of various kinds, that we would use it for things that were not 723 
theatre.  724 



RINGROSE: No, it simply is not available. So, there obviously was a need. It's very, very 725 
successful.  726 

YORK: I guess when we need something bigger than what we've got we need ten thousand... 727 
and Mandeville has done well with providing a large hall for some things.  728 

RINGROSE: Yes, that is true. It's still not quite large enough, though.  729 

YORK: It's one of the problems where being part of a big university had a negative feature, 730 
because we were faced with rules about classroom space and other things like that developed 731 
at the mature campuses. And those did interfere–we would have done a lot of things differently 732 
if we were not so hidebound by rules, especially those relating to space.  733 

RINGROSE: Would you have had more small classrooms?  734 

YORK: Well, maybe. But we would have also had more big ones. We would have had at least 735 
one, and probably several bigger auditoriums than we have and bigger lecture rooms than we 736 
have. We might have had more small ones as well. That I couldn't say. What we found stifling 737 
was the big ones, because as soon as you built more square feet for them, then you couldn't 738 
build–there were certain rules about how many square feet of classrooms. And so, the plan had 739 
to be distorted in order to fit those rules.  740 

RINGROSE: Ultimately, what you've got in terms of classroom space shapes your curriculum, 741 
in a very subtle way.  742 

YORK: Yes. Although not as much as you might suppose. It makes you go way off optimum 743 
when you have–the only thing it really–well, maybe I'm wrong, but maybe the impression–what 744 
it prohibits is some very big classes. Which we then break down into smaller classes, so it's a 745 
little bit less efficient. I'm not sure that it does anything... go ahead.  746 

RINGROSE: Let's talk about the development of the undergraduate curriculum. That must 747 
have been a major issue when you were chancellor.  748 

YORK: Yes, it was. And I was never really very happy with it, because what we had ­ well, for 749 
reasons which you anticipated earlier–we had a group of people who were very much research 750 
and graduate student oriented, who were determined to be the authors of the undergraduate 751 
plan, and the university's organization, that is the creation of a senate, and so forth, gives them 752 
much more authority in this than the university officials would have. Now, because my 753 
background wasn't all that good, I wouldn't have done any better than they did. But if there 754 
hadn't been all those rules, I might very well have consulted people who were good at 755 
undergraduate education! But it simply isn't allowed. It's one of the things that I should say, in a 756 
small way, and only a small but cumulative way, turned me off on the whole business of being 757 
chancellor. In a sense, the undergraduate curriculum is one of the most important things, and 758 
the chancellor has almost no place in it. It's the Academic Senate that works out things like that.  759 

RINGROSE: It's all done by the faculty.  760 



YORK: See, with regard to personnel, the chancellor, although there's a lot of power in the 761 
senate, the chancellor really does share the power, because ultimately, he does make the 762 
appointments, and while he cannot very often veto anything, he can sometimes. And 763 
furthermore, the kind of people we wanted took a lot of persuasion, and so the enthusiasm of 764 
the chancellor made a big difference. It was hard to recruit somebody if the chancellor wasn't 765 
interested. So, in recruiting, even though the faculty has enormous power, the chancellor, 766 
especially then, still had a lot of power. But on things like curriculum, the chancellor doesn't 767 
have any! I soon discovered that the chancellor had authority over parking lots and a few things 768 
like that, and in really interesting, substantive things, the chancellor had no authority. The faculty 769 
expected the chancellor to do exactly as they wanted. Now the chancellor could influence what 770 
happened, but it was by constantly playing politics and maneuvering, and things like that, and I 771 
wasn't interested in that. So, I was turned off by the lack of authority of the chancellor over 772 
anything interesting!  773 

RINGROSE: Did you find that the faculty was unwilling to make decisions about the 774 
undergraduate curriculum?  775 

YORK: Oh, no. They were quite–they were perfectly willing. They sometimes had a hard time 776 
agreeing with each other, but beyond that, they were perfectly willing. But the decisions were 777 
being made by people I thought of as mostly the wrong people. Not entirely. I'll name the 778 
positive ones, and not the others. I was glad to see Jim Arnold involved, for example, on the 779 
scientific side. But some of the others were just so research oriented and so graduate oriented 780 
that I did not regard them as the right people to be making these decisions, but the rules of the 781 
senate are such that you have these committees and that sort of thing.  782 

RINGROSE: It's very easy to take a sink or swim attitude where undergraduates are 783 
concerned. You develop a really tough curriculum, and if they can't make it, well–that's how it is!  784 

YORK: I thought in some ways it was too rigid. I never liked the Revelle curriculum. I would 785 
have liked it if it had alternatives. The object of the Revelle curriculum was to require that 786 
science students get some exposure in humanities. That, I thought was great! I was 100% 787 
enthusiastic for that! But what they then did was define what culture was. I mean, they set up 788 
essentially a two-year sequence, which indeed did contain a lot of things that were good to 789 
teach them, but not necessarily for everybody. From the start I would have preferred to see a 790 
Chinese type of menu, where you had to take serious courses in the humanities and in the 791 
social sciences, but not a prescribed sequence! I never liked the humanities sequence.  792 

RINGROSE: Everyone I've talked to about the early Revelle curriculum says that it was a 793 
curriculum that was designed to see to it that science students had a good humanities 794 
background. But the original premise is that all the students are science students.  795 

YORK: Well, that wasn't so much the premise as the fact. I mean, there was this fact that we 796 
were attracting them. The science departments were stronger. So, it was never the premise that 797 
they would all be science majors. But it was the fact that so many were, and we wanted to make 798 
sure that those who were did do things in addition to science. We tried to do the reverse, to 799 



make sure that those who were in humanities also had to take science, so the curriculum was 800 
designed to do that, to make everybody have to take things in other fields. But as I say, I think 801 
the right way to do that is the Chinese menu type of curriculum. Even calling it that sounds 802 
pejorative, but I mean a Chinese menu in a serious sense. It would have to offer good courses. 803 
Not this humanities sequence where everybody had to learn, as the students used to say, the 804 
Jews, then the Greeks, and then whatever else there was! Now they did have an interesting 805 
arrangement in which they tried to make them interdisciplinary in a narrow sense! I mean, they 806 
showed how Literature, History, and Philosophy go together. Even there, I don't think they did 807 
very well. But they tried to do that.  808 

RINGROSE: They still fight a lot among themselves about that particular piece of the 809 
curriculum.  810 

YORK: Well, incidentally, I think it's a good–I think it's not a bad thing. The only ­my objection 811 
to it is its exclusive nature, not the fact that it's different. As one alternative, I think it's a good 812 
one. So, I always thought the humanities curriculum was a good curriculum, but not as the only 813 
alternative.  814 

RINGROSE: You just hinted at one of the reasons why you were happy to not have to be 815 
chancellor any longer. Do you want to talk more about that?  816 

YORK: That's the main reason. I just discovered that I was–it's hard to find the right words. I 817 
didn't dislike, but I didn't particularly like it. And I gave some of the reasons. They have to do 818 
with the fact that you discover that the chancellor is in charge of everything that's not particularly 819 
interesting and has very little to say about the things that are.  820 

RINGROSE: I can see that you weren't going anywhere.  821 

YORK: But worse than that, I was spoiled, and that's very important. My previous jobs had 822 
been jobs in which I was also an executive. I'd been an executive for nine years before I 823 
became chancellor. I started very young. I mean, peculiarly young–at age thirty I was a high-824 
level executive: In fact, at age twenty-eight, or twenty-seven or something, and I liked it. But in 825 
all my previous jobs I had–it was the central substance that I focused on and hired other people 826 
to take care of the parking lot! When I came here, I discovered it's the reverse! I was supposed 827 
to take care of the parking lots and leave the central substance to everybody else! I just wasn't 828 
interested because my previous experience as an executive had been the reverse. When I was 829 
in the Pentagon, when I was at Livermore, I chose what to be interested in, and I chose the 830 
central core of the activity in every case. I made the decisions with respect to the most 831 
interesting and most central matters. And I left the peripheries to aides. And here it was the 832 
reverse.  833 

And furthermore, to maybe overstate it, and what I only came to realize years afterwards, I, like 834 
nearly everyone else who has had a successful and interesting job in Washington, had a certain 835 
form of Potomac fever. Now the virulent form requires that people stay there. A lot of my friends 836 
and acquaintances who have been there just simply stayed. I felt no–you know, when I was 837 



finished in 1961, I had no desire to stay in Washington. But I did have a desire to stay involved 838 
in Washington affairs, and so after I came here, I gradually got reinvolved in special committees 839 
and things like that. The President's Science Advisory Committee, the General Advisory 840 
Committee on Arms Control and Disarmament, congressional testimony, and so on. That's 841 
where my real intellectual interest was, not in the parking situation here! I could have developed 842 
an interest in the undergraduate curriculum, but that was already in other people's hands! And 843 
so, my real inner intellectual interest was in national affairs. There was the matter of my health, 844 
because of this heart attack I had in '60. It made me feel that–I mean at that time, my record of 845 
heart trouble–made me feel that the only way–being chancellor is burdensome, even if you are 846 
in charge of the uninteresting things, it's still a lot of work! I felt that I really couldn't put out the 847 
effort necessary to both combine a real interest in national affairs and do the job of being 848 
chancellor properly. So, I resigned, using a statement having to do primarily with health, which 849 
wasn't false, but it wasn't the main truth.  850 

RINGROSE: But it was kind to the campus.  851 

YORK: It was obvious to me a year before it happened that the idea of continuing as 852 
chancellor–I was only forty then–the idea of continuing for twenty-five years, just wasn't what I 853 
wanted to do. This was a good time–and 1963/1964 was as good a time as any to quit and get 854 
somebody in to build up the undergraduate side of the house.  855 

RINGROSE: Were you involved with the Galbraith selection at all?  856 

YORK: Well, yes, but only peripherally since I was already a lame duck and had been for 857 
several months. In fact, I even tried to persuade a couple of other people to get interested in it. 858 
The only one I think I literally offered it to was, interestingly enough, Andreas Papandreou, who 859 
told me that he had these three possibilities–one was to stay at Berkeley, the other was to go 860 
help his father in Greece, and the other was to come down here–I love to tell people in politics 861 
or history that if I had been a little more persuasive, it all would have been different! But he 862 
considered it. Lynn White's another person I tried to interest, and he said, ''You know, I've been 863 
president of Mills College and–" he had the same view of it I did–you know, ''I know perfectly 864 
well how to be a university executive, but I don't want to do it." And so, when I was still looking 865 
for some solution to this, it was Kerr himself who suggested Galbraith. You're talking about 866 
twenty years ago, and I'm not 100% sure who said what to whom, but–and he leaped at it, so 867 
that yes, I had something to do with it, but it was not my initiative. But I thought it was a very 868 
good idea, and I still do. I think it was a fine choice.  869 

RINGROSE: Well, I'll be curious to see how he felt about the undergraduate curriculum.  870 

YORK: I would also have–that's as vice-chancellor. With no one saying, but nevertheless–they 871 
were still searching for a chancellor at that time, without giving him any kind of an inside track, 872 
which I also–In other words, the idea of him coming as vice chancellor I welcomed 873 
wholeheartedly–I didn't welcome the idea of Byron. That was forced on me, but there I was a 874 
lame duck, not because I opposed Byron, although maybe I should have, but because the other 875 
half of the deal was that the man who was my assistant for business, was not acceptable to 876 



Kerr. I mean Kerr required that I replace this other person as Number 2. And then as soon as 877 
Byron came in, he fired him. His name was Jack Clark. He probably wasn't quite the person who 878 
belonged ­ you know, as chief administrator in a larger institution. But anyway, I opposed it.  879 

RINGROSE: That, perhaps, should have been your decision, though.  880 

YORK: No, you see, I was a lame duck. It should have been–the correct alternative was not to 881 
make it my decision, but to wait until there was a new chancellor. But here, you see, I don't 882 
know to what extent he did clear it with Galbraith. That's what I don't know. And when he 883 
cleared it with Galbraith to what extent he thought of Galbraith as being the next chancellor 884 
already. I would have–I was unsure about it. I did think that Roger was a reasonable possibility 885 
to follow me as chancellor, given that there was already so much momentum and a fairly large, 886 
well working administrative set up on the side. I didn't necessarily think it was the right thing to 887 
do, but I thought it was a possibility. It is a long time—sometimes I thought one thing, and other 888 
times I thought another thing. But I was happy to see Galbraith here, and I was happy to see 889 
Galbraith named chancellor. I thought, and still think, he was a good choice.  890 

RINGROSE: Well, I have wondered if perhaps part of the reason for the selection and I think I 891 
will probably ask Kerr this, was because Galbraith did have experience with the senate. He had 892 
run the southern section, and working...  893 

YORK: Well, the answer to that is surely, yes. But that's the sort of thing that would be a plus 894 
for anybody. That record is a plus for anyone you'd consider. I didn't have that experience, but 895 
it's not an absolute necessity. It's a big plus, so I'm sure it weighed in. I would be surprised if 896 
that was the reason. The main thing I looked at was that he had long experience in a major, 897 
quality American university, and he was outside of the sciences. I felt very definitely that we 898 
needed somebody outside of the sciences.  899 

RINGROSE: I think that's an important reason, and also, I think he has some interest in 900 
undergraduate education.  901 

YORK: And experience as well. Yes. So, I was involved in planning for undergraduate 902 
education, but only in the sense that I was the chief executive, was overseeing the planning of 903 
all sorts of things–facilities, and employment of officials of the kind you need, you know, bursar, 904 
and admission officers, and all that sort of thing, and working with the faculty on the 905 
development of curriculum. Actually, I worked closer with the faculty than the rules would 906 
normally call for. Just look at the senate rules. There isn't any room for the chancellor at all, but 907 
because we were so small, I did, in fact, work closely with the faculty on curriculum 908 
development, more closely than the chancellor usually works. Nowadays, the chancellor is 909 
involved–now that we're big–the role the chancellor has in curriculum has to do with very large 910 
scale but indirect things, like being the final arbiter with respect to what direction we're going to 911 
grow in, or the final arbiter with respect to establishing a dean of Engineering, or something like 912 
that. But he still doesn't have anything to do with determining requirements for graduation or 913 
anything else.  914 



RINGROSE: Where was the purchase of the Black's Farms property when you were 915 
chancellor?  916 

YORK: It was just starting to move, but nothing much happened, and Galbraith was already 917 
here. He was much more involved than I was from the very beginning. 918 

RINGROSE: The idea of acquiring the Black property goes all the way back. Roger Revelle 919 
and everybody else here had their eyes on it.  920 

RINGROSE: The earliest mention I've seen of it is '58.  921 

YORK: Because it was basically empty. There were only a very few houses there then. All that 922 
development followed the establishment of the university.  923 

RINGROSE: But what you're telling me is that things really didn't move ahead in any important 924 
ways when you were chancellor.  925 

YORK: I had almost nothing to do with it. I found myself annoyed with the fact that they—that 926 
Berkeley was moving without discussing much with us. There, the treasurer of the regents who 927 
always played his cards extremely close to his chest, and a couple of powerful regents...  928 

RINGROSE: Was that [Harry R.] Welman?  929 

YORK: No, he was vice president. He was a man named [Owsley B.] Hammond, I think. And 930 
then he worked very closely with two powerful regents, Ed Carter and Ed Pauley. I'm not even 931 
sure how much Kerr–he must have had a lot to do with it, but they preempted essentially our 932 
local interest. Again, I have to say that if I hadn't been a lame duck it might have been different, 933 
but since I was a lame duck, they felt no obligation to include me in, and it wasn't going to be 934 
me who was either going to live there, or work with the property, or... but, so I was only 935 
peripherally involved. 936 

RINGROSE: I don't know if the business with the nuclear accelerator is particularly important. 937 
Can we talk about it if...? 938 

YORK: No, it's not, but let me just clarify it. There never was a plan to build the nuclear 939 
accelerator in the sense that there was a plan to build a library. The word plan in those two 940 
instances is utterly different, because we had to have a library, and we were going to build it 941 
with state funds. An accelerator was a possible project for which we might have been able to get 942 
government funds, and which a number of important people here wanted. It would have helped 943 
the growth in physics. It would have moved it in a particular direction. And so, physicists here 944 
did work with physicists elsewhere and I even was included in a small way, and they wanted it 945 
because they wanted to do the kind of work that's involved.  946 

[END OF PART TWO, BEGIN PART THREE] 



And I, and some of the other campus authorities at that time supported it because that would be 947 
one good way to expand our research activities in a very interesting direction. So, we wanted it 948 
for real. There may have been some people who saw this as a way of getting a foot in the door 949 
with respect to getting some of Camp Elliott, and that's probably true. But the basic reason for 950 
wanting an accelerator was because we wanted the accelerator! It's what I had done my 951 
graduate work on, on what was then the greatest accelerator in the world at Berkeley, and 952 
although I would not have worked on it, I would nevertheless have a soft spot for accelerators. 953 
And that is the right word for it–accelerator, just like the one on the floor of your car.  954 

RINGROSE: The last thing I wanted to ask you about was this question that involves research-955 
oriented campuses, and the fact that they seem to have been seriously impacted by the 956 
changing availability of federal research funds, and what this has meant for the campus.  957 

YORK: Well, it did impact. It impacted us less than it impacted others, partly because the 958 
quality here was so high. I mean, we didn't lose as much as–I may be wrong. I've never gone 959 
through this in the sense of working out the statistics. But my impression is that we were able to 960 
ride through some difficulties, some cuts in Washington in support of research that other 961 
schools were not able to ride through. And a major reason for that was the high quality of what 962 
was going on, so that even when money was short, we were still able to get probably more than 963 
our share. It made a difference only in that the proportion of graduate work here would be 964 
somewhat higher than it is, if the trends set in the early 60s had continued. However, it was my–965 
I made the observation in the late 60s—no, the early 60s—I considered all the projections 966 
wrong anyhow. And I told Kerr that, but he just wasn't listening. The master plan for the whole 967 
university called for certain growth in research support, and that in turn would lead to a certain 968 
growth in the research side of the faculty, the number of Ph.D.s, graduate students, and so on. 969 
And I concluded even before I was a lame duck that that was wrong, that the growth was not 970 
going to be the way they projected, and so all of the–the entire university's plans with respect to 971 
the growth of graduate education particularly–Ph.D. education ­were wrong.  972 

RINGROSE: And you were right.  973 

YORK: Yes, I won't say that I saw what happened, but I was convinced it was wrong. And I 974 
had it in the right direction. I knew it was going to be much smaller than people were projecting, 975 
much smaller than we were projecting here. I continued in our own planning to use figures 976 
based on the official plans, which assumed that it would go on, because it's all about the future. 977 
What could I know? I mean I couldn't know that it wasn't going to grow that way. But I was in a 978 
fairly good position. I was on the President's Science Advisory Committee, and I was on early, 979 
then off, and I was back in Washington on other committees, and in fact, I concluded I was one 980 
of a very small number of people. It goes back even to my Pentagon days. One of the first 981 
things that happened to me when I was at the Pentagon because I was in charge of all research 982 
and development that was sponsored by any of the Armed Services–and because of that, it 983 
turned out that one of my minors, but formal, duties was every year to send over to the National 984 
Science Foundation a ten-year projection of our manpower needs. Now that projection was 985 
generated by the offices which were already there–the civil servants I inherited. And they 986 



brought it in, and as is absolutely the norm, said, 'This is where you sign." I mean, that was my 987 
function.  988 

RINGROSE: You mean you read it?  989 

YORK: No, my function was to sign this covering letter that sends this to the Science 990 
Foundation. I insisted on reading it. That was not so much a surprise that I wanted to read it. 991 
The surprise to them was that when I finished reading it, I said, ''I won't sign it. It's wrong." "All 992 
you have done", I said to this small staff, ''is taken today's situation, –and you've got out a piece 993 
of semi-log paper, which means everything grows exponentially, you drew some lines on it, 994 
which are projections of the last three or four years on semi-log paper. That's not a projection 995 
that ought to come from us. If we pretend to know what the future is here in the Pentagon, what 996 
our needs are, you've got to do it better than just use semi-log paper." And so, I refused to sign. 997 
They kept telling me, you've got to sign. It says here in the master plan for the United States 998 
that the Defense Department shall supply a ten-year plan! And of course, there was no way I 999 
could generate a better plan. There was no way I could generate a better plan by myself. And 1000 
they weren't cooperative. They weren't capable of doing anything except using semi-log paper. 1001 
So, I finally did sign it and sent it over, but at least I called my opposite number, that is, the 1002 
Director of the Science Foundation, told him what I was doing and why, and that I didn't regard 1003 
this as a good prediction. And I told the White House also. I mean the chief science people in 1004 
the White House, I'm signing it because everybody says you have this piece of paper that the 1005 
bureaucracy says you have to have, but it isn't right. And I believed, for the same reason, that 1006 
we were not going to grow the way those projections said. We didn't need to. And the congress 1007 
wasn't going to give us the money.  1008 

And in fact, I was right. The Defense Department R&D topped out at about 10% more than it 1009 
was, and then started down. Instead of continuing exponentially, it topped out. And we were the 1010 
biggest factor in research, and so when we topped out, everything topped out.  1011 

And then when I came here, I found the same sort of thing. The financial officers in Berkeley 1012 
were using the official figures from Washington, and then their own semi-log paper. I remember 1013 
all of this in connection with a particular conversation I had with Franklin Murphy, who otherwise 1014 
I didn't have a very close relationship with. He was chancellor at UCLA. And he said, ''You 1015 
know, the master plan is wrong. There should only be three campuses of the University of 1016 
California–Berkeley, UCLA and San Diego." And I was surprised at that, but I thought about it, 1017 
and ever since I've thought he was right. Because if we had limited it to those three, we could 1018 
have maintained a situation in which the ratio of graduate to undergraduate education at those 1019 
three institutions stayed at the level of Berkeley at that time, the level projected to be 1020 
everywhere. But there was no way that eight general campuses could fulfill the master plan. The 1021 
research money–the money for the research required to support those graduate students 1022 
absolutely was not there. Nor was the job market. And Murphy, I think, saw it also, from a very 1023 
different perspective, but he also saw that. But people in Washington didn't want to believe it, 1024 
the science people in the White House didn't want to believe it, people at Berkeley didn't want to 1025 
believe it, and so, it's why I'm not disappointed in the way the numbers developed–the size of 1026 
the graduate school developed. It was never possible for it to develop any other way, without 1027 



adding a lot of professional programs. We could have developed a large graduate school by 1028 
developing a School of Education, School of Business, lots of master’s programs. But the ideal 1029 
which everyone had–which was a graduate school in which essentially everyone is working for a 1030 
Ph.D.–and that was the ideal, that was absolutely impossible. It wasn't going to happen, here or 1031 
anywhere. It came closer to happening here than elsewhere. It isn't as if we failed relatively. We 1032 
did better than any other new institution. The schools which have bigger graduate schools 1033 
proportionately are either those like Caltech, which do it by having a tiny undergraduate school, 1034 
or Berkeley and UCLA, which do it by having lots and lots of professional schools. So, I never–1035 
how did we get on to this? What question did you ask me that has drawn out this lengthy 1036 
answer?  1037 

RINGROSE: I started out by asking you about government funds. Really, you ended up 1038 
answering some important questions on long range planning, because I've been trying to get a 1039 
handle on it for a long time where the campus development was concerned.  1040 

YORK: Here I was almost a lone voice also, so I didn't even make a big point of it. Here, for a 1041 
different reason. In Berkeley and Washington, it was because the bureaucrats were using semi-1042 
log paper. Here, in San Diego, it was because of enormous self-confidence! You know, Keith 1043 
Brueckner and others just knew that the money was there, and all they had to do was keep 1044 
asking for it.  1045 

RINGROSE: Because the best people get it.  1046 

YORK: Yes. But they were wrong, too, because the money wasn't there. And although we got 1047 
more than our share, we never got what they thought we were going to get either. But I found 1048 
myself badly out of step with almost everybody on this question. It wasn't a case of what I 1049 
wanted versus what they wanted. It was my conviction of what was going to happen.  1050 

RINGROSE: I can see that that would have been a very unpopular position to be taking in the 1051 
kind of state of euphoria the campus was in...  1052 

YORK: Very few people agreed with me. I brought it up even in the Pentagon. No, even in the 1053 
White House in some of the planning sessions there. Later–you see, the idea that we were 1054 
going to keep on growing persisted even after the growth stopped. People thought it was only 1055 
temporary. And I remember arguing in say–'66 and '67,'65 and '66–in the White House. They 1056 
said we were going to recover from this minor hiccup, to which I said, it just can't happen. Your 1057 
growth figures, Mr. So and so, you know, assume that research is going to be far and away the 1058 
biggest industry in the United States, and I don't believe it is. The American people are not 1059 
going to support ­ but the scientists, who were the group I was dealing with, were so convinced 1060 
they were right–you know, that doing research Was what America was going to do with its 1061 
affluence. We were just all going to start doing research! As we get richer and richer and satisfy 1062 
our needs for housing and beer and skittles, we're going to spend the extra money on research.  1063 

RINGROSE: And learn how to do things better, and make them cheaper, and there's a 1064 
whole...  1065 



YORK: No, scientific research. These people, like a lot of people here, were oriented not as far 1066 
as making things cheaper for people but oriented towards the purest forms of research–the 1067 
production of knowledge as a cultural activity.  1068 

RINGROSE: It's a nice dream.  1069 

YORK: Yeah, well, but that's not what the people want. If we had continued to move that way, 1070 
we would have contributed our own little bit to what's happening anyway. Polarization of society. 1071 
You know, sort of the destruction of a real middle. Everybody is either going into service jobs, 1072 
which pay minimum wage, or into professional/academic jobs, which pay a lot more. The steel 1073 
worker who got–you know–the blue-collar worker who got four or five times the minimum wage 1074 
has disappeared. And we would have helped!  1075 

RINGROSE: Working in blue collar professions no longer carries any status with it. There are 1076 
interesting kinds of sociological changes that have come about, too, that really have nothing to 1077 
do with what you're paid.  1078 

YORK: The split I'm speaking of–when I say that that would have contributed to polarization–1079 
what I mean in terms of people's interests. There just is an enormous part of the population, 1080 
probably a large majority, that absolutely is not interested in intellectual pursuits, and doesn't 1081 
want to be! And if we had tried to pursue the notion that what we do with America's affluence is 1082 
do research for the sake of knowledge, it just would have increased that split even more. It 1083 
would have been the wrong kind of elitism. As I said earlier, I'm in favor of elitism that is a 1084 
natural product of insisting on high standards for a relatively small part of the whole enchilada. 1085 
But to do it for a larger piece, or for a majority–try to make half the population elite and the other 1086 
half non-elite is too unbalanced. Elites have to be small in order to be socially acceptable.  1087 

RINGROSE: Well, I want to thank you very much. This has been a great pleasure. 1088 

[END OF PART THREE, END OF INTERVIEW] 


